
UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
SOUTH ERN DISTRICT OF FLORIDA

lQ-37%ù = oMISC. NO.

UM TED STATES OF AM ERICA

VS.

DIYA SALAM E,

D efendant
/

CRIMINAE cou R SHEET

1. Did this matter originate f'rom a m atter pending in the N orthel'n Region of the United
States Attorney's Office prior to October 14, 20032 Yes X No

2. Did this matter originate 9om a matter pending in the Central Region of the United States
Attom ey's Office prior to September 1, 20072 'Yes X No

Respectfully submitted,

AIUANA FAJARDO ORSHAN
UNITED STATES ATTORN EY

By:
M ICHAEL TH UR
Assistant Urlited States Attomey
Court Number A5501474/
Florida 2ar No. 1011456
99 Northeast 4th Street
M iam i, Florida 33132-21 11

(305) 961-9361
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AO 9 1 (Jkev. 1 1/1 1) Criminal Complaint

UNITED STATES D ISTRICT COURT
. sr tjw

Southern District of Florida

United States of America

M. 2 C- B%u% N oCase No.

Diya Salame,

Depndantls)

CRTM INAL COM PLAINT

1, the complainant in this case, state that the following is true to the best of my knowledge and belief.

On or about the datets) of 2013 through present in the county of Miami-Dade in the

Southern District of Florida , the defendantts) violated:' 
. %

Code Section Offense Descrlption

18 U.S.C. j 1956(h). Conspiracy to Commit Money Laundering.

This criminal complaint is bmsed on these facts:

-SEE ATTACHED AFFIDAVIT-

d Continued on the attached sheet.

Complainant 's signature

Special Agent aniel McNamara, DEA

Prin d nam and title

/

Ju e 's xçfgnl/lfre

Hon. John J. O'Vullivan, U.S. Magistrate Judge
Printedname and title

Sworn to before me and signed in my presence.

'oate: /J ' l

City and state: Miami, Florida . .
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l 6' Y%uœ b'''lo

AFFIDAW T

Your Affiant, Daniel M cNamara, being duly sworn, deposes and states:

1. 1 am a Special Agent with the Dnlg Enforcement Administration (DEA). I have

been a Special Agent for over three years and have been employed by the DEA for six years. Prior

to becoming a Special Agent, I was ml Intelligence Analyst for the DEA. I have received

specialized training on the subject of narcoiics trafficldng and money laundedng 9om the DEA
&

and have been personally ilw olved in investigations concerrling the possession, manufacture,

distribution, and importation of controlled substances, as well as methods used to finance druj

transâctions.

2. This axdavit is submitted in support of a criminal complaint against Diya SALAME

(hereinafter GISALAME'). As explained belqw, 1 respectfully submit that there is probable cause

to believe that SALAM E engaged in a conspiracy to commit money laundering, based on the

sjecified unlawfrl activity of operating an unlicensed money transmitter business, in violation of

Title 18, United States Code, Section 1960, al1 in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section

1956(h).

Under Title 18, United States Code, Section 1960, it is unlawful for anyone to

knowingly conduct, control, manage, supelwise, direct, or own a11 or part of an unlicensed money

transmitting business. The term Glmoney transrnitting'' lGincludes transfening funds on behalf of the

public by any and a11 means including but not limited to transfers within this country or to locatiops

abroad by wire, check, draft facsimile, or cotlrier.'' 18 U.S.C. j 1960(b)(2). The term Ghlnlicensed

money transmitting business'' m eans a m oney transmitting business which aflkcts interstate or

foreign comme'rce in any m nnner or degree and which fulfills at least one of the three other listed

requirements'. (1) ttis operated without an appropriate money transmitting license in a State where'
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such operation is punishable as a misdemeahor or a felony under State law, whether or not the

defendant knew that the operation was required to be licensed or that the operation was so

punishablei'' (2) fails to comply with the money transmitting business registration requirements

under section 5330 of title 31, United States Code, or regulations prescribed under such section;

or (3) tGotherwise involves the transportation or transmission of funds that are known to the

defendant to have been derived from a criminal offense or are intended to be used to promote or

support tmlawful activity.'' Section 5330 defnes a GGmoney trahsmitting business'' as a business
t

that: (A) provides check cashing, ctlrrency exchange, or money transmitting or remittmwe services,

or issues or redeem s m oney orders, travelers' checks, and other similar instnlm ents or any other

person who engages as a business in the transmission of funds, including any person who engages

as a business in an infonual money transfer system or any network of people who engage as a

business in facilitating the transfer of money domestically ol' internationally outside of the

conventional financial institmions system; (B) is required to file reports under section 5313; and

(C) is not a depository institution (as defined in section 5313(g)). Id. at 5 5330(d)(1).

4. The following information is based upon my perjonal knowledge and information

thgt has been provided to me by other 1aw enforcement officers.Because this affidavit is being

submitted for the limited purpose of establishing probable cause for a crim inal complaint, 1 have

not included each and every fact known to me or other 1aw enforcement officers concerning this

investigation.

PROBABLE CAUSE

5. From at least as early as 2013 through the present, SALAM E conspired with

.. 
'

m oney launderers in South America, the United States, and elsewhere to facilitate the illicit

movement of money through his bank accounts in South Florida and his c'ell phone businesses,
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Future Connections and Global Depot, both located in M iaml, Florida. Neither SALAME, nor any

of llis co-conspirators, had a license, as required by law, to operate a money transmitter business

in the State of Florida or elsewhere in the United' States.

6. SALAM E received millions of dollars in tlzird-party wires sent by intermediaries he

knew were engaging in money transmitting for a fee, unrelated to the sale or purchase of goods

from SALAM E, to obscure the true origin of the funds. SALAM E and his co-conspirators created

false invoices to conceal the fact that no legitimate goods were being sold to the third-party

compnnies or entities from wltich SALAM E w as receivihg m oney.

Among the third-pat'ty wires that SALAM E received that were unconnected to any

l . .

sale of joods were more than $245,000 in wires from construction and flooring compnnles in the

United States that, based on law enforcement surveillance and attempted interviews, do not appear

to be engaged in any legitimate business. ln the case of one purport. ed construction company

located in New Jersey, tie owner of the accoupt admitted to 1aw enforcement that he was paid by

another person to use his bartk account to tranjmit money. This constnzction company's accolmt

sent at least $95,000 to SALAME from 2016 to 2018 and at least $200,000 tp two other SALAM E

co-conspirators in the United States. In total, over $5.5 million has been identified as originating

;$ '' i identified tn this investigation as belongingfrom construction company payments to bus nesses

to SALAM E or his co-conspirators.

8. SALAM E 4lso received large, rotmd number deposits into his account from compnnies

outside the United States that were ulzrelated to SALAM E'S cell phone business, which is

' indicative of a money laundering scheme. On April 25, 201,6, for instance, SALAME received into

his Future Cormections Citi bnnk account a $200,000 deposit 9om a constnlctiofl company in

M exico. SALAME also received over $100,000 between January and Febnzary 2017 into his

3
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Futlzre Connections Chase bnnk account from a beverage company in Brazil.

M onev laundered throuzh FARHAT network

9. One of SALAM E'S principal co-conspirators was Nader M ohamad FARHAT, the

leader of an extensive money laundering orgnnization in the Tri-Border Area of South America, a

region where the bordezs of Bzazil, Argentina and Paraguay converge. FARHAT was charged by

Superseding Indictment with conspiracy to commit money latmdering and substantive money

dering counts in the Southem District of Florida in case number 1t-20865-CR-Ruiz(s) andlaun

was also charged with money lalmdering in the Eastern District of New York in case number 18-

cr-292. FARHAT was arrested in Paraguay on or about M ay 17, 2018, and was extradited to the

United States in June 2019. FARHAT'S cases are cun-ently pending in both districts.

10. The FM U-IAT investigation began in or around 20 13, when a M exico-based money

latmderer instnzcted a DEA confidential source (hereinafter (GCS 1'') to deliver over $500,000 ih

cash that had been picked up in Detroit, minus commission, to a FARHAT associate in M inmi,

Florida. As a result, DEA began all undercover investigation into FARHAT and his network. As
' 

,<

part of that investigation, f'rom 2014 to 2015, épproximately $600,000 in purported dnzg proceeds

were delivered to FARHAT or persons directed by FARHXT to receive funds on his behalf in

South Florida and Paraguay. During a recorded m eeting at FARHAT'S business, Unique Cambios,

in Ciudad De1 Este, Paraguay in September 2015, CS 1 told FARHAT that the CS wgrks with

ççnarco money'' and that Eiall the money is laundered.'' FARHAT proposed that'cs 1 receive cash

in M iami - a m illion dollars every 15 days. FARHAT said that he charges 1.5%  for m oney leaving

fw m . Ciudad Del Este; 2% for money leaving from  Astm cion, Paraguay; and 3.5% for cash

received in the United States or Brazil. The m oney would be routed to China or the United States.

FARHAT and CS1 discussed where F T could receive cash outside of the United States and
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Paraguay' 
, and F T mentioned Dubai and Lebanon. An tmdercover agent (hereinafter tGUC'')7

posing as an associate of CSI, subsequently delivered $250,000 in $100 bills to FARHAT in a

black backpack. FARHAT opened the bag and quicldy counted the bundles of U.S. currency

handed to him. F T then wired the money from Brazil to the UC account in installments.

Deliverv of nuroorted drug m onev to SALAM E

11. In December 201h, at the direction of the DEA, CS1 contacted F T to
9

deliver $125,000 in M inmi, Florida, for FARHAT to launder the pup orted drug proceeds for CS 1.

On December 14, 2015, FARHAT provided CS1 the nnme 'and phone num ber of ;GDia,'' later

identified as Diya SALAME, as the person to receive the delivery of cash in M inmi.

12. On December 14, 2015, à. DEA Task Force Officer (TFO) ading in an undercover
$

capacity (UC) placed a telephone call to Diya SALAME. During this telephone call, the UC

confirmed arrangements for SALAM E to receive $125,000 in United States currency from the UC

as arranged by FARHAT. The UC and SALAME agreed to meet at a bar/restaurant in Doral,

Florida, in order to conduct the money exchange. The delivery of $he $125,000 to SALAM E was

to be the first step in a money latmdering transaction whereby FARHAT would instnlct a United
j 

'

States-based associate to receive funds and FARHAT would order a wjre transfer into a Miami,

Florida-based accotmt minus the commission FARHAT charged.

13. At approximately 3:25 PM on December 14, 2015, SALAM E called the UC to indicate

. 1

that he had arrived at the location. Agents observed SALAME sitting in the parlcing 1ot inside a

white BM W  Shat was registered to Global Depot Incop orated, a company for wllich SALAM E is

listed as the Registered Agent.

14. At approxim ately 3:39 PM  the UC arrived at the location and parked near SALAM E'S

vehicle. After the UC greeted SALAM E, the UC returned to the Ucçs vehicle and retrieved a blue
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bag containing the $125,000 USC. The UC then returned to the driver side door of SALAM E'S

vehicle and handed the bag directly to SALAM E. u 'The UC told SALAM E, : $125,000,'' and

SALAM E responded by asldng the UC if they needed to cotmt the m oney in question. The UC

inform ed SALAM E that the U C did not need to count the m oney.

15. Agents observed SALAM E leave the parlcihg 1ot of the bar/restatlrant and drive to the
. 

'

lci 1ot located in front of Future Cormections, Inc., located at that time at 1608 NW  84thpar ng

Avenue, M iami, Florida. SALAM E waj observed exiting the driver-side door of his vehicle with

the blue bag which was handed to him by the UC. SALAM E placed the blue bag in the tnmk of

his vellicle and entered the front door of Future Connections, Inc.

16. The next day, on December 15, 2015, SALAM E received a W hatsApp message in

Arabic from a FARHAT associate in Paraguay saved in SALAM E'S phone as ET ony PY.'' The

FARHA T associate told SALAM E that he was sending SALAM E m oney through FARHAT.

SALAM E asked in Arabic, Sihow m uch?'' The FARHAT associate responded, 'ç(125k.
''

N

17. On December 17, 2015, FARHAT sent a W hatsApp message confirming that

FARHAT was to send two wlre transferj totaling ::121250.''

18. On October 20, 2017, during a noncustodial interview with the FBI, SALAM E denied

ever receiving large sums of United States currency. W hen FBI agents asked SALAM E again

lk d eceived what he stated waswhether he çver received bulk cash, SALAME conceded that he a r

11$80,000'' in M iami, Florida, fzom an individual sent on behalf of Nader FM U-IAT. SALAM E

claimed to FB1 agents that the funds were owed to SALAM E by SALAM E'S brother for m otor

vehicles SALAM E sent from the United States to Paraguay, and that SALAM E'S brother had given
. '

the funds to FARI-IAT in Paraguay to transmit to SALAM E in Miami. Asked why FARHAT did

not wire transfer the funds directly into SALAM E'S account, SALAM E replied that SALAM E did
. 

'
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not want Gtpersonal f'unds'' deposited into his business account. W hen asked whether he deposited

any of the bulk bash into his bank accotmt, SALAM E at first claimed that he did not deposit any

of it andjust kept the currency at his house to use as needed. When asked again if any of the cash

had been deposited into an account, SALAM E admitted that he deposited between $20,000

$30,000 into his bnnk account. SALAM E stated that he did nôt deposit the fllnds all at one time

but broke up the deposits over multipletrmasactions of appioximately $8,000, $5,400, $3,000, and

$2,000.

19. SALAM E described FARHAT to FB1 agents as a ççbroker,'' Gldispachante,'' or m oney

mover who receives money f'rom individuals and wire transfers the money to other accounts for a

fee. SALAM E stated that several of SALAM E'S customers 9om Paraguay utilized FARHAT to

send SALAME funds for goods SALAM E shipped to them in Paraguay. SALAV E indicated that

FARHAT was just an intermediary who transfen'ed funds and that SALAME did not actually do

business with FARHAT.

W hatsAnn Com m unication between SALAM E and FARHAT

20. On February 9, 2017, dtlring a noncustodial meeting with the FBI, SALAME gave FBI

agents consent to search his telephone, which had the' sam e num ber that he used in 2015 dming

the pick-up of purported drug proceeds..

21. A review of the W hatApp conversation between SALAM E and a telephone ntlmber

SALAM E identified as belonging to FARHAT revealed that, from August 30, 2016, through

February 7, 2017, SALAM E received at least $3,759,286 in third-party wires from F T,

divided into 36 transactions. The receipt of each of the 36 transactions was docum ented by

SALAM E and sent to FARHAT as screen shots of notifications that SALAM E received at his

email address dia@fmtlrecozmections.net f'rom his bnnk.
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22. SALAME frequently requested that FARHAT provide him the name of the cpmpany

corresponding to third-party wires so that SALAM E could generate fake invoices to create the

appearance that he w as sending actual goods to those companies. On September 15, 2016, for

example, SALAM E stated to FARHAT, ;$1 neéd company info please'' (GTO send product under

this week.'' Again the following day SALAM E stated to F T, 1G1 need company info please''

4&I need to make invoices from where the money came from.'' On November 2, 2016, SALAM E

informed FARHAT, (GYa man they are not putting the company's names on the wire.'' On

November 15,. 2016, SALAME told FARHAT, Gtook what 1 sent u on skype'' GEI need u to put

ihat name on wire please.'' On Decçmber 28, 2016, SALAME told FARHAT, E11 need u to put

deferent names on wires please'' Gtlmportador FG about 500k, Importador TENUG 80109 that's

Bilal, M iami cell 1551 10, Atld than u have RN reparacao u can always put that company whèn

we done with everything.''

23. SALAME'S communications with F T also provided details of the informal

money transfer system thaf associates used within their network to send money while concealing

the origin of the funds. On October 7, 2016, for instance, SALAM E told FARHAT via W hatsApp,

GçMoustafa is golma give u 15k that's replace the $ 15k u gave my brother.'' ççso you can send it to

me.'' On multiple öccasions, SALAME asked FARHAT, til-low much I'm getting today u know?''

24. Through llis W hatsApp messages, SALAM E made clear that he worked with

F T as his exclusive money transmitter for wires from Paraguay but that SALAM E also

worked with other money transmiters from different countries. On December 7, 2016, for

instance, SALAM E asked FARHAT via W hatsApp, ::46709 did that com e from u.'' F T

responded, Gçl-lmm R u receiving from other?'' SALAME responded, 1ûU mean f'rom py gparaguayl?

From py only u. I receive from customers a1l over but py only u.'' F T stated, GcGood. Then

8
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tllis wire f'rom me.'' On December 28, 2016, SALAM E sent a scr:enshot of a wire transfer and

asked FARHAT, çTrom u right.'' F T responded, ççU have to stop aslcing me this question.

A11 u're wires m ust be from me.'' SALAM E responded, Gtl-laha no som efome from  others.''

Com m unication w ith other co-consnirators

25. ln February 2017, during a non-custodial interview with law enforcement, SAT-,AM E

consented to a search of llis phone. Agents found a contact in SALAM E'S phone that agents

idehtified as belonging to a known FARHAT and SALAM E co-conspimtor who resides in South

Florida (hereinafter çico-conspirator 1'') . ln a WhatsApp chas on May 13, 2016, Co-conspirator
y 

. . '

1 asked SALAM E, ûican you 'send me $64,637 from Bilal today? I need to send a wire today.''

SALAME responded, GlGive me tmtil noon just spoke with Nedar (FARHAT) he told me that is

spoke Esupposed toj receive' something today Esicl.'' During the investigation, agents have

reviewed num erous communications between FARHA T and his co-copspirators relatçd to m oney

laundering. The aforementioned commllnication between Co-conspirator 1 and SALAM E

regarding money transmission is similar to other messages between FARHAT and llis co-

conspirators regarding illicit m oney m ovem ent through third-paly accotmts.

26. In or around M arch 2016, in a W hatsApp group chat written in Spanish that included

SALAM E, SALAME'S girlfriend at the time, and an Argentinean money transmitter, SAlaAM E's

girlfriend spoke on behalf of SALAM E and told the Argentinean money transmitter that they had

received the quote that he had sent for money transmission but that they needed a false invoice in

the name of the U .s.-based financial instittztion that would be transferring them the m oney from

Azgentina. On or about M arch 23, 2016, SALAM E'S girlfriend explained that they needed such a

fozged docllment to malce it seem as if this U.s.-based fmancial institution, wlzich is known by law

enforcement to have assisted in the laundering of millions of dollars, had Gûbought something'' from
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Futtlre Connections, which is SALAM E'S company. She further requested that the false invoice

be emailed from the U.S. financial instittztion SALAM E'S email àddress,

dia@futureconnection.net. The Argentinean money transmitter respondedthat he would make sure

that the U.S. financial institution emailed that invoice to SALAM E. Approximately 30 minuies

later, SALAM E'S girlfriend stated over the W hatsApp group chat that SALAM E had requested a

change in plans and that he wanted the money rettumed from the U.S. financial institm ion and

replaced with a m onetary transfer from outside the United States. Based on m y experience in the

investigation, other FARHAT co-conspirators in the U.S. also seem ed similarly concerned that

wires from U.S. financial institutions would raise suspicion about the natare of the ftmds and invite

potential scrutiny of their finances. W hen the Argentinean .money transmitter indicated that

SALAM E'S request w ould be too com plicated to implement for this transaction, SALAM E'S

girlfziend stated that it would be fine and the'Argentinean m oney transmitter acknowledged that

in the future he knew that SALAM E prefen'ed not to receive wires from witllin the U.S. On or

about March 29, 2016, on the same W hatsApp group chat, SALAM E respohded that he had

received the invoice. A review of SALAM E''S Future Connectiops' Citi barlk accotmt confilnned

that SALAM E did receive wires transfer from the discussed U .S. tinancial instittztion on M arch 7,

2016, in the nmotmts of $30,000 and $60,000 and on M arch 8, 2016, in the nmount of $57,000.

27. In or arotmd November 2016, SALAM E sent W hatsApp messages to a Paraguayan

t

'

associate to coordihate a money transfer in Lebanon. SALAM E provided the name and number of

the person that was seeking cash in Lebanon and SAI,AM E'S associate provided the name and

ntlmber of the m oney supplier in Lebanon. SALAM E sent repeated m essages to llis associate to

ensure that the money transfer took place. On or about November 10, 2016, SALAME
+

communicated with the same associate over W hatsApp and indicated that FARHAT would be

10

Case 1:19-mj-03766-JJO   Document 1   Entered on FLSD Docket 11/01/2019   Page 12 of 15



sending $30!000. In audio messages comm' lmicated in Arabic over W hatsApp that day, SALAM E

discussed that he would take a 1% fee, or approximately $300, for the $30,000 transfer.

28. SALAM E frequently communicated with the director of NASA Electronics, a M iam i-

based business that SALAM E had previously led, about the movem ent of m oney for a fee between

their companies. In W hatsApp commtmications between SALAME and the Nasa Electronics

pfficer/director, they discuqsed percentages that SAI,AM E would charge as commission to move

money back and forth'between their compnnies in a process they called a tErotation.''

29. On December 15, 2015, for exnmple, the Nasa Electronics officer/director stated in a

W hatsApp messagq to SALAME, G1I got 25011. Want to rotate with future (connectionsq?''

SALAME responded, çGsend me the 140 plus the 2% for global gdepotq and 1 will return 135 or

130 back. And send the balance to f'utlzre (connectionsj and I will return al1 of that back.'' Although

the Vasa Electronics offker/director complained to SALAME that SALAME was both charging

2% for the money transmission and sending back $10,000 less than he recetved, he agreed to the

transaction and then sent SALAM E a W hatsApp message indicating, GCU should have them,

142800 to global and 100k to f'uture.'' SALAME acknowleèged receipt of the money and

responded, G(I sent u 102 ($102,000j so it's not an even mlmher ti know what I mean.'' The Nasa

Electronics officer/director responded, çiYeah.'' SALAME'S 'indication that he did not want to

transmit the snme amotmt he had just received from Nasa Electronics showed SALAME'S

awareness that such pass-through transactions would raise suspicion that they were latmdering

money.

30. On December 18, 2015, SALAM E sent a W hatsApp m essage to the N asa Electronics

officer/director and stated, G$100k coming your way in 30 minutes and U have from now till the

28th to send back with 2% fee.
''
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31. On M arch 16, 2016, the Nasa Electronics offcer/director alerted SALAME that he had

received $400,000. SALAME instructed him, ttsend me $337,451. Tomorrow 10 o'clock I will

send like 330 back. On wire put inv#1350 & #1356.''

32. On Novem ber 7, 2016, SALAM E sent a W hatsApp m essage to the Nasa Electronics
.' .

officer/director and stated, IW  note to remind tt that on the 20th of this month there $4130 to collect '

that's the 1% on the 413 g$413,b00) that wejust did rotation on. I know u will forget and u will be

lost thats why Im sending tllis.'' In that message, SALAM E was remindiné the Nasa Electronics
. 

'

officer/director that he would be collecting on llis 1% fee for transfening him the $413,000.

33. On or about February 7, 2017, SALAM E commtinicated with an associate he listed in

his phone as ç&M azen PY'' and encouraged llim to use thei.r network for money transmission. This

associate asked SALAM E about sending wires from Paraguay to the United States and SALAM E

responded, GGI can have u put money with Nedar'' (FARHATq. Mazen PY indicated that he had

been working with Cllina for the last five years and asked SALAM E how much FARHAT charged

for the wires. SALAM E responded, (:1.5,7' meaning that FARHAT charges 1.5% commission to

transmit money. SALAM E further stated, çtW hen ever u ready 1'm here for u,'' meaning that he

would assist in the transm ission of m oney.

CON CLUSION

34. Based on the foregoing, I submit there is probable cause to believe that Diya SALAME

conspired to commit money latmdering, based on the specified urllawftzl activity of operating an

tmlicensed m oney transmitter business, in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 1960,

12
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a11 in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 1956(h).

FURTHER YOUR AFFIANTjAYETH NXUGHT.

J-
Daniel M cNamara, Special Agent
Drug Enforcement Administration

Sworn and subs ibed before
me this 31St day of ber 2 19.

HON O LE J J. O'SULLIVAN
UNITED TATE M AGISTRATE JUDGE
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